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UNITED STATES DISTRI CT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BETTY S. FLYTHE
Plaintiff, Civil Action No.: 10-2021(RC)
V. Re Document No.: 150, 151
DISTRICT OFCOLUMBIA, et al,

Defendans.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

DENYING DEFENDANT EAGAN’SMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DENYING
DEFENDANT EAGAN’SM OTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO PUNITIVE DAMAGES

I. INTRODUCTION

On December 26, 2008n officer of the District bColumbia’s Metropolitan Police
Department (“MPD”) fatally shotremayne G. Flythe. Mr. Flythe’s mother, Betty S. Flythe,
brought this action in her personal capacity and on behalf of the e$tdt. Flythe against the
District of Columbia (“the Distat”) and the two officers directly involved in the shooting,
Officer Travis Eagan an@fficer Angel Vazquez. Against the officefds. Flythe alleged
constitutionakexcessive forcelaimsunder 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and common law assault and
batteryclaims At summary judgment, the Court concluded that qualified immuhigided
Officer Eagan from Ms. Flythe’s section 1983 and assault and battengealad consequently
granted summary judgment in his fav@ee generall¥lythe v. District of Columbi&Flythe I),
994 F. Supp. 2d 50, 668, 74(D.D.C. 2013) The Court allowed Ms. Flythe’s claims against
Officer Vazquez and some of her claims against the District to procéeal thoweversee
generally id; Flythe v. District of Columbig@Flythe 1), 4 F. Supp. 3d 216 (D.D.C. 2014), and a

jury found Officer Vazquez liable for assault (but not battergxcessive force), and found the
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District of Columbia liable “for assault and battery, for the astiofboth Officer Vazquez and
Officer Eagari Jury Verdict, ECF No. 117 (emphasis adyed

On appeal, the D.C. Circuit affirmed the jury verdict in all respéctisreversed the entry
of summary judgment against Officer Eag&wee Flythe v. District of Columb{&lythe I111), 791
F.3d 13, 15D.C. Cir.2015. On remand, Officer Eagan has again moved for summary
judgment, arguing thatotwithstanding the D.C. Circuit’s decisisynmmary judgment should
be granted in his favor in light of the record produced at tiie Court disagrees, both because
thecircuit did havethe trial record before @ndalsobecause, in any evemfenuire issus of
material fact remain eveafterconsidering the trial testimony. AccordinglizetCourt will deny
both ofOfficer Eagan’s motions. The Court does conclude, howekat the District of
Columbia’s liability was settled by the first tralwhich has now been affirmed on appeal. As a

result,this casewill proceed against Officer Eagan, alone.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
The Court and the D.C. Circuit have previously described the factsusiding Mr.
Flythe’s deatlton December 26, 2009 in deta$ee Flythe 111791 F.3d at 1518; Flythe |, 994
F. Supp. 2d at 5%9. The Courassumes familiarity with treeprior opinionsandwill focus on
the facts most relevant to Officer Eagan’s present motions fomamyjudgment.
On December 26, 2009, the owner of Petworth Liquor Store, Balbir Singtial called
the police to report that a man hiadown an empty bottle at his ste’s window. SeeDef.

Eagan’s Statement of Material Fa§it8 (“Def.’'s SUMF”), ECF No. 15@.! Mr. Hundal had

1In many instances, Ms. Flythe’s counterstatement of matadtd §imply contends that
a particular fact is not material, but doe$ otherwise contest or deny the fa8ee, e.gPl.’s
Resp. to Def. Eagan’s Alleged Stmt. of Undisputed Material fg@s3(“Pl.’'s SUMF”), ECF
No. 1581. Inthese instances, the Court considers the facts adnfiésd.D.C. Local Civ. R.



called the police the evening prior to report that the same man leaehthrbrick through, and
broken, another store windowld. § 1. District of Columbia Metropolitan Police Department
Officers Angel Vazquez and Travis Eagan arrived at Mr. Hundal's stordnancét off
separatelyto canvass the neighborhood assisted by Mr. Hundal's descriptioa iotiiliidual as
a “black male wearing black jacket [and walking a dog.”Id. {5, 9;see alsal.A. at 1756
(Mr. Hundal's trial testimonyy.

Officer Vazquez came across a male walking a dog on the 400 Block of Ketnget) S
who he claimed fit Mr. Hundal's descriptiord.A. at 362 10 (Def. Vazquez’'s Stmt. of
Undisputed Facts)That man was Tremayne Flythe. After parking his vehicle near the curb
Officer Vazquez instructed Mr. Flythe to tie his dog to a fence poleingnded whethehe
could ask Mr. Flythe some questions.  13. Mr. Flythe and Officer Vazquez then moved to
the rear of Office Vazquez'’s cruiseOfficer Vazquezestified that, as they did shir. Flythe’s
demeanochanged and Mr. Flythe begplaying with his jacketpromptingOfficer Vazquezo
ask whetheMr. Flythe “ha[d] anything on [him] thafficer Vazquek should know’ Id. at
402-03 @eposition of Angel Vazquéz Officer Vazquez testified that Mr. Flythe answered in
the affirmative, pullesbuta knife and attempted to stab Officer Vazquik.at 403. Officer
Vazquez‘pushed or kicked” Mr. Flythe, drew his firearm, and fired two shots befo gun

jammed. Id. at 408-09. After clearing the jam, Officer Vazquez was able to fire two additional

7(h)(1) (“In determining a motion for summary judgment, the Court mayras that facts
identified by the moving party in its statement of material faotsadmitted, unless such a fact is
controverted in the statement of genuine issues filed in opgpo&it the notion.”).

2 The full trial transcripts have not been filed on the district coddisket, although they
were included in the joint appendix the parties filed in the D.@u@i Therefore, and for ease
of reference, the Court will cite to the Joint Apdéx for all documents or proceedings filed
prior to the D.C. Circuit’s remandSeeJoint AppendixFlythe v. District of Columbia791 F.3d
13 (D.C. Cir.2014) (No. 147069).



shots, which he claimed missed Mr. Flythd. at 409-10. Mr. Flythe then untied his dog, and
ran down Kenyon Streetd. at 410.

Contrary to Officer Vazquez’'s accouhfywever, fve other witnesses to the altercation
all testified that they did natbserve Mr. Flythe with a knifeSeeid. at 53940, 543 (deposition
of Mary Frances McCotteridl. at 532-33 (deposition of Sabrina Shapirad; at 549-50
(deposition of Janean Willardy. at 555-56 (deposition of Jonathan L. Pool&]; at 5650
(deposition of Linda Smith)Several even testified that Mr. Flythdiands were raisedy that
his palmswvereopen andorward, suggestinghat e could not have beetarrying a knife.See
id. at 543 (McCotter Dep.)d. at 533(Shapiro Dep.)id. at 549 (Willard Dep; id. at 555 (Poole
Dep.). Those witnesses either testifiedthe samat trial or had the relevant portions of their
depositiontestimony read into evidenc&ee, e.gid. at 140717 (portions of deposition of
Linda Smith read into evidencge{l. at 1420 (estimony of MaryFrancedMcCotter);id. at 1429
1431 (testimony of Janean WillardQl, at 1435, 1444 (testimony of Jonathan Pootk)at 1448
(testimony of Sabrina Shapiro).

Meanwhile, Officer Eagan had been patrolling the same neighborhood)@exced by
Mr. Hundal. He heard the following over the police radio:

OFFICER[Vazquez] Eagan. Four hundred block of Kenyon.

OFFICER: Hey, (inaudible), copy.
DISPATCHER: 3206 (phonetic).
OFFICER: Drop the knife.
OFFICER: Shot.
OFFICER: Drop the knié.
(Shot fired)
OFFICER: Tried to stab me, ma’am. My gun jammed.

Get official on this location.
Id. at 22223 (radio run all). In response, OfficédEagan drove around the block and proceeded

toward Kenyon Streetld. at 73132 (deposition of Travis Eaganfficer Eagan testified that



while he was driving northbound on Warder Streetsaw OfficeNazquezrunning westbound

Id. at 732 Officer Vazquez’sveaporwasout, he was pointing, and he sdftht Mr. Flythe was
“running westbound.”ld. Officer Eagartestified that hdooked westbound-downthe 500 to

600 block of Kenyon Streetand“saw the suspect running on the north sidewalk in a westbound
direction with the dog."ld. Officer Eagarthenturned left dowrKenyon Steet andproceeded
forward, eventually parkingis car near the 600 block, in order to cut off Mr. Flythe at 733.
Officer Eagan ordered Mr. Flythie “get on the ground . . . now/[.]id.

Officer Eagan testified thainstead of obeying his commamnds. Flythe ranpasthim in
close proximityfor three to four feebefore“Mr. Flythe jumped through the air and chadgis
momentum by doing a hop . . . gtlen] started coming towas Officer Eagan 1d. at 734
Officer Eagan statkthathe began teeating but that Mr. Flythe fnade a motion toward his
waistband anfEagan]saw a silver blade of whte] believed to be a knife coming up out of
his waistband. Id. Officer Eagan described how Mr. Flythe was holding his weapon asvioll
“He [was] holding it in a fashion so that if the handle wefiéthe knife were vertical, the blade
was pointing down and the handle up, he had the handle grasping it frtop Seethat if you
were to bring your thumb back to your shouldeehandle would be towd your shoulder and
thebladeof the knife would be forward of you.ld. at 736 At trial, Officer Eagartestified that
Mr. Flythe raised the knife above his he&keid. at 1663 (“He raised it above his head and
advanced towards me.ljj. at 1671 (“He raised the knife above his head and was running at
me.”). At that point, Officer Eagan stated that “I was ordering him to drejxtiife, I'll shoot,
drop the knife, I'll shoot. He continued to advance towand. | discharged my weapon...”

Id. at 428 Mr. Flythefell to the ground.ld.



During the altercation between Officer Eagan and Mr. Flyire Hundalremainedn
the parked patrol carAlthough much of his view wasbstructed by the other cars parked on
Kenyon Streetseel.A. at 1758-60, he claimed that at the critical moment at issue-he@®und
the time he heard the gunshetise could see the tops of Mr. Flythe’s and Officer Eagan’s heads
and their shouldergd. at 518-19 (deposition of Balbir Hundalid. at 1760(trial testimony)

His testimony regarding when Officer Eagan fired is inconsisteowever. At one poirdturing
his deposition he stated that, when the shots were fired, Mr. FlytHeaayach were “face to
face.” Id. at 508, 519.At another point, haever, heappears to claim that Officer Eagan exited
the patrol car and shot at M¥lythe whilechasinghim. Id. at 517 (“Q: Was he still running
when he fired higun? A: Running still, yes.))d. at 1760 (trial testimony: “Q: Before he came
faceto-face with the policeman, had you heard any gunghatsres, | heard gunshots . . . |
heard that when they running..”).

Ursula Edmonds, another witness to the shooting, was standing onsthendef the
Kenyon Street block, almost at the intersectigth Georgia Avenue. In her initial police
interview, she stated thas aoonasOfficer Eagan’s car pudd up to Mr. Flythe'the police
officer . . . immediately jumped out of the car, ran, started ngn@ind | saw him chasing
another gentleman.JA. at 580 (transcript of police interview). She then stdteelis chasing
him and | heard, | hegsic] two gunshots, pop, pop.ld. at 581 Ms. Edmonds stated that she
“couldn’t see where the gunshots came from,” although she presented ineribfhat “the
police officer was shooting at the young maid’ At trial, however Ms. Edmonds claimed that
she saw Mr. Flythe run and then hitbehind a pole,” and that Officer Eagan “pulled up” to Mr.
Flythe, “jumped out of his vehicle,” “immediately pointed his guant “went straight to him

and shot him.”Id. at 148182 ((trial testimony) When presented with her prior statemiant



which sheclaimed noto have seen where the gunshots came from, Ms. Edmonds eventually
admitted that it was possible she repodadng her interviewthat shenadnot sea where the
gunshots came from, but maintairsheting her iacourt testimony thatl absolutdy know where
the gunshot came from.Id. at 1499-1500. The videotape of Ms. Edmonds initial interview was
played for thgury as impeachment evidenchl. at 1507.

Officer Vazquez, meanwhile, testifieékdat hewas not sure whether Mr. Flythe had
stoppel running or not before Officer Eagan fired shots at him. He stat&dpt he was not
stopped but | don’t know if he was runnirgvalking, | mean, he was towards Officer Eagan.”
J.A. at 44. He alsandicatedthat “prior to the shot [being fired],” haddnot ever see Mr.

Flythe stop runningld. at 413. Finally, lvan Cloyd, another bystandegported during a police
interviewthat he saw Mr. Flythe “running when the officer was shooting at hin&\” at 577.

At trial, Mr. Cloyd again said that rsaw both men from across Kenyon Street and that he saw
the officer shoot two shots at Mr. Flythend agreed thalhe officer was chasing Mr. Flythe&see
J.A. at1l47273.

Mr. Flythewas taken to the hospital, where he died as a resoitliet wound to his
torso and thigh Seel.A. at 443 (autopsyepor). A knife was recovered near Mr. Flythe’s body
in the snow, but his fingerprints were iaked to the knife.ld. at440—41(deposition of
Raymond E. Bond)Both Mr. Cloyd and another witness, Demea$ Moore testified that they
did not see a knife nearby Mr. Flythe’s body when they observed the ddeae1474 (Cloyd
trial testimony);id. at 584 (deposition of Demetrius Moore).

In November 2010Mr. Flythe’s mother, Betty S. Flythéled this action in her personal
capacity and on behalf of Mr. Flytlseestateagainst the District, Officer Vazquez, and Officer

Eagan. See generallompl., ECF No. 1 Against the officersMs. Flythe’s complaint alleged



constitutional claims of excessii@ce under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and common law claims for
assault ad battery. Ms. Flythe also brougidditional vicarious assault and battery claims and
negligent hiring, training, and supervision claims against thei@ishs the officers’ employer.
See Am. Compl.q7 13-22, ECF No. 17.

The defendants moved for summary judgmesiich tre Court granteth part and
denied in part.As relevant herehe Courtgranted Officer Eagan’s motion for summary
judgment, concluding thatt was “objectively reasonable” for Officer Eagan to “believe that Mr.
Flythe posed a threat to him of serious physical harm” at thehifieed his weapon Flythe |,
994 F. Supp. 2d at 667. The Court noted that none of the other eyewitnesses could see
whether Mr. Flythe had lnife when he encountered Office Eagan and, therefoa¢ Ms.

Flythe had not placed Officer Eagan’s “version of events into mathsjalite.” Id. at 68.
Regardlesghe Court concluded thatvhether or not Mr. Flythe actually brandished a knife . . .
is largely irrelevant,” becaus#é was objectively reasonable for Officer Eagan to believe that
Mr. Flythe had a knife and was dangerous,”,dhdrefore he was potected byboth qualified
immunity for purposes of section 1983 aimimmon law privilegdor purposes of the assault and
battery claim Id. at 68, 74.

The Court allowed the claims against Officer Vazquez and the vicarioustijatsdim
against the District for the conductludth Officer Vazquez and Officer Eagan to proceed to
trial, however. See idat 74-76;Flythe II, 4 F. Supp. 3d at 221Specifically, the Court held that
because there was “a genuine dispute of material fact as to whether Mg. gflyslented a
danger throulgout the encountewith both officers’ summary judgment was not appropriate on
Ms. Flythe’s claim against the District for assault and battElythe |, 994 F. Supp. 2d at 76

The Court emphasized that it would “assess both officers’ encountewitdythe as a whole,



constituting a single tresaction,”id. at 75 a point the Court reiterated in the course of resolving
Ms. Flythe’s motion to alter or amend the judgmeegFlythe v. District of Columbial9 F.

Supp. 3d 311, 324.8(D.D.C. 2014)explaining that “the District is responsible for the acts of
both its employees,” and that its “liability in this case cannot be viewad/acuum, with the
Court examining each officer’s liability separately and detached therother”).

At trial, the jury found Officer Vazquez liable for assault (but not battergxa@essive
force), and found the District of Columbia liable “for assault antebatfor the actions djoth
Officer Vazquez and Officer EaganJ.A. at 239899 (jury verdict form)(emphasisadded).

The jury awarded compensatory damaigatie amounbf $187,300 against the District (but
none against Officer Vazquezld. at 2400. After offsetting the amount of a medical lien,
judgment was entered for Ms. Flythe in the amount of $119,25&%2d0rder Granting Defs.’
Mot. for Setoff, ECF No. 122; Clerk’s Judgment, ECF No. 123.

On appeal, the D.C. Circuit affirmed the jury’s verdiat teversed the grant of summary
judgment in Officer Eagan’s favor. The circuit noted that appreheons$iasuspect through
deadly force is a Fourth Amendment seizure, and thus unlawful, uhétasse of force is
“objectively reasonable in light of the facts and circumstances coimigdnhe officer. Flythe
lll, 791 F.3d at 18 (quotingraham v. Connqgrd90U.S. 386, 397 (1989)). As a result, the
circuit determined that the resolution of qualified immurignd thus summary judgmest
turned on whethavir. Flythe attacked Eagan with a knifehen he turned to face the officer,
instead, “obeyed Officer Eagarcommand to ‘stop’ and turned around to surrendit.’at 19.

In other words, summary judgmestproper only if, “after viewing the facts in the light most
favorable to Ms. Flythe and drawing every reasonable inference favwgr” the court is able to

conclude “that no rational trier of fact could disbelieve Officer Eagarcount.”Id. The circuit



further clarifiedthatin the particular circumstances where the witness most likely toachett
an officer’s storyis dead—and wherdirect evidence ithus absert-an award of summary
judgment “may be made only with particular cafeld. (quotingPlakas v. Drinski19 F.3d
1143, 1147 (7th Cir. 1994)). The court “may not simply accept whatbmayseHserving
account by th@oliceofficer.” 1d. (quotingScott v. Henrich39 F.3d 912, 915 (9th Cit994)).
Rather, and with particular emphasis on circumstantial evidence, uhe‘mmist ‘carefully
examine all the evidence in the record . . . to determine whether the'sfiay is internally
consistent and consistent with other known fact&d” (quotingScott 39 F.3d at 915).

And the circuitidentified severainstances in whickherecord evidence provided reason
to doubt Officer Eagan’s testimonyAmong those instancgthe courtnoted that several
individuals had testified thahe altercation between Officer Eagan &fd Flythe began when
Mr. Flythe was runnindrom Officer Eagan as the officer shot at hiee idat 20. In addition,
although Officer Eagan maint&d that Mr. Flythe had changed course and jumped through the
air, causing Officer Eagan to retreat, Mr. Hurdalho had a clear view of Mr. Flythe’s head
and shoulders-did not report a miehir change of direction or a retreat by Officer Eaglah.
And, while Officer Eagan testified thadlr. Flythe raised a knife above his head when he
advanced toward hinmeitherMr. Hundalnor Officer Vazquemention that factld. Thecircuit
also noted that all five witnesses to Officer Vazquez'’s altercation withrlythe testified that
he had noknife at all. Id. at 21. Becausé([jJustification for deadly force exists only for the life
of the threat,thecircuit reiterated thate fact that Mr. Flythe may havea@ne point posed a
threat to Officer Vazquez didbt automatically mean that Officer Eagan was justified in using
deadly force.ld. at 22. Ultimatelythe circuit foundthat“a reasonable jury could conclude

from the evidence “that Tremayne Flythe never threatened Officer Eagaa kvitfe.” Id.

10



Onremand, Officer Eagan hagain moved for summary judgment, arguing that the
circuit’s understanding of the record was “incomplete and inaccurate incagmwifespects,” and
that, regardless, the evidence presented atgmmbnstrated that summary grdent was
appropriately grantedSeeMem. P. & A. Supp. Travis Eagan’s Pé&mand Mot. Summ. J. at
34 (“Def.’s Mem. Supp. Summ. J.”), ECF No. 150 He also mow&for summary judgmentn
the ground that there is insufficient evidence from which agoojd award punitive damages.
See generalliMem. P. & A. Supp. Def. Eagan’s Mot. to Dismiss PIl.’s Demand/Clarm

Punitive Damages or for Summ. J. (“Def.’s Mem. Punitive Damage€y, [§o. 1511.

lll. LEGAL STANDARD

A court must grant summary judgment if étlmovant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgeeninatter of law.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 56(a). A “material” fact is one capable of affecting the sulbstasutcome of the
litigation. SeeAndesson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). A dispute is
“genuine” if there is enough evidence for a reasonable jury taratuerdict for the nen
movant. SeeScott v. Harrig 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007). The inquiry under Rule ®8sentially
“whether the evidence presents a sufficient disaggaeto require submissida a jury or
whether it is so onsided that one party must prevail as a matter of lawntlerson477U.S. at
251-52.

The principal purpose of summary judgmenbistreamline litigation by disposing of
factually unsupported claims or defenses and determining whether thegensiine need for
trial. SeeCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 3224 (1986). The movant bears the initial
burden of identifying pdions of the record that demonstrate the absence of any genuine issue of

material fact. Sead. at 323. In response, the novant must point to specific facts in the

11



record that reveal a genuine issue that is suitable for 8&did. at 324. In casidering a
motion for summary judgment, a court must “eschew making cfiggltheterminations or
weighing the evidenceCzekalski v. Peterg75 F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007), and all
underlying facts and inferences must be analyzed in the lightfenastable to the nemovant,
seeAnderson477 U.S. at 255. Nevertheless, conclusory assertions offered watiput
evidentiary support do not establish a genuine issue for 8&dGreene v. Dalton164 F.3d

671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 1999).

IV. ANALYSIS
A. Summary Judgment as to Officer Eagan’s Liability

Officer Eagarfirst argues that the Court should again grant summary judgment in his
favor andfind that qualified immunity and common law privilege protected his astid he
Court disagrees, particularly in ligbf the D.C. Circuit’s reversal.

First, it would violate the mandate rule for this Court to conclimdg summary judgment
is warranteceven aftethe D.C. Circuitreversed the @urt’s prior entry of summary judgment
An “inferior court has no power or authority to deviate from the mendsued by an appellate
court.” Briggs v. Pa. R.R. Co334 U.S. 304, 306 (1948Accordingly, the district court is
“bound by the mandate of a federal appellate court . . . andradign is without power to
reconsider issues decided on a previous appé&édggard v. O'Connel703 F.2d 1284, 1289
(D.C. Cir. 1983). This principle, referred to as the “mandate rules’ascta ‘more powerful
version’ of the lawof-the-case doctrinewhich prevents courts from reconsidering issues that
have already been decided in the same cdselép. Petroleum Ass’n of Am. v. Babli35
F.3d 588, 59697 (D.C. Cir. 2001)quotingLaShawn A. v. Bary87 F.3d 1389, 1393.3(D.C.

Cir. 1996))

12



Here, the D.C. Circuit reversed this Court’s grant of summary judgtoeOfficer Eagan,
finding that the record evidence could lead a reasonable jury to “conbhtdErémayne Flythe
never threatened Officer Eagan with a knife” and, therefore(tiaser Eagan’sactions were
not objectively reasonabta protected by common law privileg&lythe 111, 791 F.3d at 221t
would violate the mandate rule to now find that there is no genuine eltbptiOfficer Eagan
acted reasonably, notwithstanding tireuit’'s conclusion To the extenOfficer Eagan argues
that the D.C. Circuit’s recitation of the record evidence was “incompleteaodurate in
significant respectsSeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Summ. at 3;see also, e.gid.at 3n.1,5n.2, 9
n.3, 10 n.4, 14 n,%his Courtis without authority taverrulethecircuit’s judgment. Officer
Eagan also raised many of these issues in his petition for rehaadnghearingnbanc See,
e.g, Travis Eagan’€ombinedPet. Rely en banc& Panel Rely at 7,Flythe v. District of
Columbig 791 F.3d 13 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (No. IM69)(“Eagan’s Reh’g Pet. jlisting sixtypes
of evidence theircuit allegedly “misunderst[ood],” “mischarateriz[ed]” or “erronequsdlied
upon”). That petition was denied.

In an efort to claim otherwiselzagan argues that his motion is now based on the
evidence adduced at trial, whibk asserts “differs in significant respects from the pretrial
evidence.” Def. EaganReply Supp. Summ. at 2 ECF No. 160 But, while Eagan clans that
trial evidence now tips the balance, that evidgaod the full trial recordyvas before theircuit.
Thecircuit in fact considered:iin at least one instance the panel cited to Eagan’s trial testimony
in the course of reversing this Courtisemary judgment decisiorSee Flythe 111791 F.3d at
20 (quoting Eagan’srial testimonythat Mr. Flythe raised the knife above his heaBgecausd¢he

circuit had the full record before it, and reviewed and affirmed thetjiatyand verdict, the

13



circuit implicitly—if not explicitly—consideredhat evidencé. Whether a motion for summary
judgment was properly granted is a pure question of law (which istugeviewedde novo,
and this Courts without authority tgettison thecircuit’s determination See Summers v. U.S.
Dep’t of Justice140 F.3d 1077, 1079 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (explaining that reviede isovo
becausehe circuit ‘must decide theame questiothat was before the district coufemphasis
added)).

Second, and in anywent, Officer Eagan’s arguments on the meritswaravaling. Even
considering both thiull summary judgmenand trial record, idputed questions of fact remain.
Ms. Flythe’s section 1983 claim alleges that her son was killed latiano of the Fourth
Amerdment. Qualified immunity protects law enforcemetfficers from liability for
constitutionaklaims fdling on the “sometimes hazy ter between excessive and acceptable
force,” Saucier v. Katz533 U.S. 194, 206 (2001) (internal quotation marks citionomitted),
unless “it is shown that the official violated a statutory oistitutional right that was clearly
established at the time of the challenged cond&ttinhoff v. Rickard134 S. Ct. 2012, 2023
(2014) (internal quotation marks and citatamitted). Whenthe use of deadly force to seize a
suspect isnvolved the Supreme Court has consistentidltbat “it is not constitutionally
unreasonable to prevent escape” of a suspect if “the officer has probable caliseddtz the

suspect pses a threat of serious physical harm, either to the officeocsathérs.* Tennessee v.

3 Indeed, in his petition for rehearingagan argued that tlegcuit shouldnot have
considered the trial testimony in reversing this Court’s summaryradgdeterminationSee
Eagan’'s Reh’'g Peat 12 (‘The trial occurred months after the grant of summary judgment; the
panel should not have codsred trial testimony.”). Eagan cannot have it both ways, arguing on
the one hand that tle&rcuit improperly considered trial testimony and then arguamgthe other,
that this Court shouldow consider that evidence, and should come to a differentusooie
than thecircuit.

4 Eagan points to several other cases which he claims present similanfhdtswvhich
the Supreme Court or the D.C. Circgranted qualified immunit§o police officerseither

14



Garner, 471 U.S. 1, 11 (19853ge also Graham. Connor 490 U.S386, 397 (1989)
(explaining that the relevangtiestion is whether the officers’ actions are objectively reasonable
in light of the facts and circumstances confronting them” (internatiagon marks and citation
omitted)). The question of common law privilege under D.C. law requires a simidysas
which asks whether the means of force “employed are . . . in excémsefwhich the actor
reasonably believes to be necessaBtheredge v. District of Columhi&35 A.2d 908, 916
(D.C. 1993).

Accordingly, as th®.C. Circuit recognized, the operative inquiry for purposes of
summary judgmentithis case is determining what happened when Mr. Flythe turriadeto
Officer Eagan; if he turned to attack Officer Eagan with a knife, thenédfiagan “reasonably
responded to an imminent threat,” but if Mr. Flythe turasslind to surrender and olegly
Officer Eagan’s commands to steqor if he was otherwise no longer threatenirQfficer
Eagan’s actions were “patently unreasonabldythe Ill, 791 F.3d at 19, 222. Moreover,the
circuit has now clarified how a court should analyze that factualrjpngthen an officer is the

only survivingwitness of a deadly encounterhelCourtmust“carefully examine all the

because the court foutidat therevas no constitiwnal violation, otbecauséhe purported
constitutional violation was not clearly established. All okthoases, however, are
distinguishable on their factsand most were decided before tireuit issued its opinion in this
case. Indeed, several involved a dangerous motorist behind the wheel of aitter a high
speed chase or in an area where the individual posed a contiiskihg other bystanders or
police officers. See, e.gMullenix v. Lunal136 S. Ct. 305 (2015plumhoffv. Rickard 13 S.

Ct. 2012 (2014)Fenwick v. Pudimott778 F.3d 133 (D.C. Cir. 2015). As the D.C. Circuit even
explained in one of those cases, “[o]utside the context of a dangerotspbkiggh car chase,
deadly force, as the Supreme Court made cle@aimer, ordinarily may not be used to
apprehend a fleeing suspect who poses no immediate threat te-etheather or not the suspect
is behind the wheel.Fenwick 778 F.3d at 13940 (internal quotation marks and citations
omitted). And, here, there is a predicate question of fact concerning whetHeytiiedid
continue to pose an immediate threat. Thus, the cases Eagan cites dpowtssiposition
given the circumstances of this case.
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evidence in the recoydincluding available circumstantial evidencéy tietermine whether the
officer’s story is internally consistent andnsigent with other known facts.ld. at 19 uoting
Scotf 39 F.3d at 915(internal quotation marks omittedY hatbasic inquiry also should not
change if theCourt considers evidence adduced at trial. The summary judgmerdrstand
“mirrors the stadard for a directed verdict under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 50(a}y ishic
that the trial judge must direct a verdict if, under the governingtlave can be but one
reasonable conclusion as to the verdi&riderson477 U.S. aR50 Thus, “ifreasonable minds
could differ as to the import of the evidence . . . a verdict shouldendirécted’ nor should
summary judgment be grantettl.

With that clarified inquiry in mind, several pieces of circumstdmvidence cast doubt
on Officer Eagan’s account, and could lead a reasonable jguestion whethekir. Flythe was
attackingOfficer Eagaror posed a continuing threathon as he turad to face the officer. The
Court need not canvass all of the parties’ contentions, but focuses orlrefenake the point.

Most importantly andas theD.C. Circuit recognized, what exactly took place between
Officer Eagan and Mr. Flythe is uncertagiven the circumstantial evidenc8&ee Flythe 11 791
F.3d at 22.That confrontation is the crux of this casgee id.Officer Eagan claimed that Mr.
Flythe ran past his cruiser than, after several feet, did a slight hagdair,nurned back toward
the officer, and raised a knife above his head in a threatening m&eekA. at 734.But the
testimony of other witnesses conflicts with that story. For examaithough much of his view
was obscured by parked vehicles, Mr. Hundal testified thaatiea clear view of Mr. Flythe
and Officer Eagan’s shoulders and heads firmsidethe officer’s cruiser.See idat 518-19,
1760. While he testified that he saw the men come face to face, hemem&oned Flythe

making a hopping movemengeeFlythe lll, 791 F.3d aR0. The same is true for Ms. Edmonds
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and Mr. Cloyd, who both saw portions of the encounter, albeit frostande, and stated in
police interviews that they saw Officer EagdrasingMr. Flythewhile firing at him. J.A. at
577, 580-81; see also Flythe 1)1791 F.3d aR0. Mr. Cloyd reiterated this account at trial.A.
at 1472-73.These statements might suggest that the encounter began with Cdfyear E
chasing and shooting at Mr. Flythe, not with Mr. Flythe turning threaggntoward Officer
Eagan And, if a reasonable jury disbelieves Officer Eagan’s versiomwfthe enconter
began, it might also disbelieve his potentially-selfving account of how it ended.

Mr. Flythe’s wielding of the knife is also of critical importand®fficer Eagan testified
that Mr. Flythe raised the knife above his head aftéuhmeed tavard Officer Eagan.Yet, no
other witnesses testified that sort oimotion. Mr. Hundal could see the men’s head and
shoulders, and Officer Vazquez testified to a “motion” Mr. Flythe made towliceOEagan.
Seel.A. at 51819, 1760, 413 But neither testied that Mr. Flythe raised the knife above his
head as he approached Officer Eag&ae Flythe 111791 F.3d at 20In addition, every person
other than Officer Vazquez to witness his initial encounter withRthe testified thabe or
shedid not se Mr. Flythewith a knife. See, e.gJ.A. at532-33, 539-40, 543, 549-5@everal
even said that Mr. Flythe’s palms were open and his hands were saiggésting even more

clearly that he was not grasping a kniféee, e.gid. at533, 543, 549 When coupled with the

5 Officer Eagan argues that Mr. Cloyd’s testimony at trial “differgaiicantly” from
his police interview, but th€ourthas compared the two and does perceive anynaterial
differences—and Officer Eagan does not identify amgh specificity SeeDef.’s Mem. Supp.
Summ. J. at 3 n.1Ms. Edmonds, for her patpmpletely repudiatedt trialthe statement she
had previouslyprovided to the police directly following the confrontatiodbee, e.g.J.A. at
1499-1500.She testified to a confrontation that was, if anything, less &eito Officer
Eagan. She was impeachedra with her prior statement, and the video of her police
interview was played for the jurySeed. at 1507. Although these discrepancipsovide ample
reason to doulihe veracity of her trial testimoni,is within the jury’s provinced make that
type of credibility assessment.
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other evidence, this circumstantial evidence could lead a reasonaitle panclude that Mr.
Flythe either did not carry a knife, or did not wield it in a threatemagnerat the time he
encountered Officer Eaga&nlf the jury so oncluded, they could further find that Officer
Eagan’s story was not “internally consistent” or “consistent witlkerothown facts.”Flythe I,
791 F.3d at 19 (internal quotation marks omittegiofingScott 39 F.3d at 916

For the most parDfficer Eagan again slips back into arguing that no other witness
actually saw the encounter. As teuit explained, however, that is not dispositigee Flythe
I, 791 F.3d at 19 The Court must consider what conclusions the jury might reasoohralov
abaut Officer Eagan’s account in light of the othgrcumstantial evidence that conflicts with
his account Id. In the Court’s view, the inferences ttiecuit identified do not cross the
boundary from supportable inferenweunsupportable speculatiofihe remaining issues that

Officer Eagan identifies-including the fact that Mr. Cloyd, Mr. Hundal, and Ms. Edmonds saw

® Thecircuit emphasized that &ast onevitness at the scene, Ms. Moore, did not see a
knife as she observed Mr. Flythe’s body, and that Mr. Flythe’&fprints were not found on the
knife that wagecovered See Flythe 111791 F.3d at 2@21. In addition, although the knife was
swabbed for DNA, that sample was never testek idat 21. Ms. Flythe’s statement of
material facts argue that these circumstances suggest a congpipéayt the knife Seeg.g,

Pl.’s SUMF{{56-57. One need not necessarily credit that conspiracy theory, howeverd @ fi
genuine issue of fact. A reasonable jury might infer from this mistantial evidence that, even
if the recovered knifevasFlythe’s, the fact that thknife was not immediately apparent on the
scene or that Mr. Flythe’s fingerprints were not found on the kmifieate that, perhaps, he
never removed it from his jacket or waistband during his confliontavith Officer Eagan.
Alternatively, it could le that an abandoned knife was fortuitously found nearby. The Court
acknowledges that there is ample evidence from which a jury could aeddgannclude that Mr.
Flythe carried a knife-including Vazquez'’s radio call referencing being stabbed (if found
credible), Officer Eagan’s testimony (if found credible), and the recovetlyeoknife close to
Mr. Flythe’s body. AccordFlythe 111, 791 F.3d at 22 (noting that “a jury could conclude” that
Mr. Flythe “threatened Officer Eagan with a knife”). But theral$® sufficient circumstantial
evidence, including the testimony of five witnesses who did not seElihe carrying a knife
during his confrontation with Officer Vazquez, that would allow aoreti jury to conclude
either that Mr. Flythe did not careyknife or, alternatively, that the knife was not readily
accessible to him as he met Officer Eagan.
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only portions of the encounter or had obstructed sjieee, e.g.Def.’'s Mem. Supp. Summ. J. at
10-11;Def.’s Reply Supp. Summ. dt 9,or that Ms. Moore could not recall whether there was
snow on the ground and was not actively looking for a kedeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Summ. at
21 n.8—areall considerations that the jury mugeighin determining whether to find particular
witnesseor their testimonycredible. Those issues are not reasons to distbentitnesses’
respectivaestimoriesin their entirety

Finally, Officer Eagan continues to claim that, “regardless of wheth#rg=had the
knife,” he “would be entitled to qualifiednmunity even if Flythe had not attacked Eagan with
the knife which was found at Flythe’s feetDef.’s Mem. Supp. Summ. at 4-5; see also idat
11 n.6 (“[E]ven if Flythe had not brandished a knife, Eagan’s eeticould still have been
lawful and objetively reasonable.”).The circuit expresslyejected this contention. It held that:
“whether Eagan acted reasonatibesturn on whether, as he alley&lythe attaked him with a
knife.” Flythe 1ll, 791 F.3d at 22emphasis in original)

Nor is it sufficient for Officer Eagan to continuallyguethathe had probable cause to
use deadly force based ohat hesubjectivelybelievedas a result oDfficer Vazquez’s call and
his assumptions about Officer Vamy’'s encounter with Mr. FlytheThe Supreme Court has
rejected a subjective test for qualified immunity, and “[t]he releiraqtiry in a constitutional
excessive force claim . . . is ‘whethée officers actions are ‘objectively reasonabie’light of
the facts and circumstances confronting themthout regard to their underlying intent or
motivation:” Scott v. District of Columbijal01 F.3d 748, 758 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (emphasis
added) (quotingsraham 490 U.Sat 397);seeGraham 490 U.S. aB97 (“An officer's evil
intentions willnot make a Fourth Amendment violation out of an objectively reatonab of

force; nor will an officers good intentions make an objectively unreasonable use of force
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constitutional’). Determining whether Officer Eagan’s actions were objelstireasorable
requires understandirigpthwhat Officer Eagaielievedas he approached Mr. Flytres well as
thesituation Ie in fact facedafter Mr. Flythe turned back towatim—and what a reasonable
officer would have doneshenconfronted with thoseircumstancesSee Scales v. District of
Columbig 973 A.2d 722, 730 (D.C. 2009) (explaining that D.C. law’s privilege indtusroth
subjective and objective: the officer must subjectively believe #hat Ishe used no more force
than necessary, butd officers judgment is compared to that of a hypothetical reasonable police
officer placed in the same situatin The fatal flaw in Officer Eagan’s reasoning is, aghis,
assumptiorthat those factual circumstances are beyond dispute.

Where, as here, “the materfatts underlying a defendastclaim of qualified immunity
are in dispute, ‘it is impossible for tleeurt to determine, as a matter of law, what predicate facts
exist to decide whether or not the offiseconduct clearly violated estatbled law” Estate of
Gaither v. District of Columbiag55 F. Supp. 2d 69, 98 (D.D.C. 2009) (quotitejcomb v.
Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auttb26 F. Supp. 2d 20, 22 (D.D.C. 2007))]f an excessive
force claim turns on which of two conflicting stesibest captured what happened on the street,
Grahamwill not permit summary judgment in favor of the defendant@aff” Johnson v.
District of Columbia 528 F.3d 969, 977 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (quotbgucier 533 U.S. aR16
(Ginsburg, J., concurring(declining to grant summary judgment where the question of whether
the plaintiff's “prone position was threatening or suggested escaman only be resolved by
evaluating the conflicting testimony” of the plaintiff and the offjcekccordingly, Officer

Eagan’s motion for summary judgment must be denied.
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B. Summary Judgment as to Punitive Damages

Having concluded that genuine disputes of fact concerning Officer Eagdmiityl
remain, denial of Officer Eagan’s motion for summary judgmend asinitive dmages largely
follows. Under section 1983, punitive damages may be assessed when “the defexaathuttt
is shown to be motivated by evil motive or intent, or when it involleekless or callous
indifference to the federally protected rights of otheiSthith v. Wade461 U.S. 30, 56 (1983).
District of Columbia law is similamequiring a plaintiff to showhat both the defendant’s
conduct and his state of miedidenced “malice or its equivalentJonathan Woodner Co. v.
Breeden665 A.2d 929, 938 (D.C. 1995). Such malice is shown by commission of aiscatid
“accompanied with fraud, ill will, recklessness, wantonneppressiveness, willful disregard of
the plaintiff's right[s], or other circumstances tending to agagathanjury.” Id. (quoting
Wash. Med. Ctr. v. Holl&73 A.2d 1269, 1284 (D.C. 199@)nternal quotation mark omitted)
The jury “can infer the requisite state of mind from the surrogndircumstances; indeed, it is
usually impossible to do otherwise, fiirect evidence of that state of mind is rar@émison v.

Nat'| Baptist Convention, USA, In&Z20 A.2d 275, 2886 (D.C. 1998).

" Officer Eagan argues that this showing must be made by clear and cog\éritience.
The District of Columbia Court of Appeals has held as mucpudgposes of D.C. law, but the
preponderance standard is typically applied in section 1983 wadesfederal law See
Jonathan Woodner Co. v. Breed®&65 A.2d 929, 938 (D.C. 1995) (holding that the
egregiousness of the defendant’s conduct and stataaf must be shown by clear and
convincing evidence)stanley v. IrsaNo. 2:08cv-195, 2011 WL 1526937, at 2 (N.D. Ind.
Apr. 15, 2011) (collecting casepplying preponderance standard for purposes of sectior);1983
see also Pac. Mut. Life Ins. Co. vastip, 499 U.S. 1, 23 n.11 (199()oting that the Court had
considered the defendant and amici’s arguments that “a standambbbppunitive damages
higher than ‘preponderance of the evidence™ should apply but was “reatgokd . . . that the
Due Process Clause requires that much”)faé¢n at trial in this casghe Court instructed the
jury only onthe lowerpreponderancstandardafter concluding that would be unlikely for the
jury to find liability for Officer Vazquez on the assault andé&at count but nobnthe section
1983 count.Seel.A. at 205860 (jury instruction conference, during which the District’s
attorney conceded that the preponderance standard applied as a matter dafejjela. at
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Officer Eaganclaimsthat Mr. Flythe “did not say or do anything to indicate that he was
surrendering before he suddenlyred to face Eagan,” and that “[rlegardless of whether [Mr.]
Flythe attacked Eagan with a knife, it was not outrageous for Eagan to[Me JafElythe, and
there is not one scintilla of evidence that Eagan acted with any malice fdvar&lythe.”

Def.’s Mem. Supp. Punitive Damages at 11. But Officer Eagaaagain relies only on his
own view of the encounter. If the jury concludes that Mr. Flythe wasmed or was not
threatening toward Officer Eagan, and Officer Eagan nevertheless eagplegdly force, a jury
might be able to conclude that his conduct and state of mind support a pdartiages award.
Seelemison 720 A.2d at 28536 (noting that a jury can consider the surrounding
circumstances). Until the jury resolves what happeheohg he encounter, the Court is unable

to conclude that there is insufficient evidemceupporta punitive damagesward?®

2386(jury instructiongrequiring ashowing of preponderance of the evidgndefficer Eagan

who was not a defendanttimat trial,would of course be permitted to make a different objection
at his trial. For purposes of resolving this motion, however, it suffices toledytte Court

bdieves there isufficient evidence to present the punitive damages question to thengley
either standardn light of the contested isssief fact

8 Ms. Flythe alludes tevidenceshowing that Officer Eagan was “under the influence of
illegal drugs”at the time he shot Mr. Flythe. Pl.’s Optot. Summ. J. Punitive Damages at 9,
ECF No. 159. Althouglfficer Eagan contends that no reasonable jury could conclude that he
wasunder the influence of illegal drugs the time of the shootingeeDef.’s Reply Punitive
Damages at-4%, ECF No. 161the circuit pointed tevidence in the record showind ) that
Officer Eagan tested positive for methamphetamines four daysladtehooting(2) that he took
whatever substance contributedhe positive tet result before the December 26, 2009 shopting
and (3) that the police department later fired hafter concluding that he lied about using
illegal methamphetamingsFlythelll, 791 F.3d at 21From thisevidence, and other evidence
in the record, a jury might be abledonclude thaOfficer Eagan was under the influence of
illegal drugs at the time of the shooting. The Court does not foecttlegpossibility thasuch
evidence may be relevant to the punitive damages.iskue Court takes no position on the
issue athis time, howevelhecausaeither party cites any authorityscussingvhether the use
of illegal drugs or other analogous circumstanceas, contribute to establishitige malicious
stateof mind necessary to support a punitive dgesaward
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In addition, Qficer Eagancontendghat because the jury verdict form treated “the actions
of Vazquez and Eagan . . . as a single catisetion,” and the jurgecidednot to award
punitive damages against Vazguazunitive damage award against Officer Eagan is
“precluded.” Def.’s Reply Punitive Damages at 2, ECF No. 161. This argumentaeisiands
both the jury form and the juryigerdict. Thespecial verdictorm only indicated that the
liability of the Districtas respondeat superior was predicated on both officers’ condindt.
punitive damages are not available against the District. Therefore, whgmytldeclined to
awardpunitive damages against Officer Vazquez for his own section 1983 vislaimhassault
and battery, it had no occasion to consider an award of punitive daaggest Officer Eagan
for his own conduct.

Consequently, the Court wallsodeny Officer Eagn’s motion for summary judgment as
to the issue of punitive damages.

C. The District’s Status

The Districtclaimsthat itis no longer a party defendant in this case, in light of the jury’s
award in the first trial.SeeD.C.’s Br. Regarding No#tatus al—2, ECF No. 152. The Court
agrees.

As the Court determined in its summary judgment decision, atetated in the course
of resolving Ms. Flythe’s motioto alter or amend the judgmeMs. Flythe’svicariousassault
and battery claim against the Distrivould be assessed based on “both officers’ encounter with
Mr. Flythe as a whole, constituting a singlensaction’ Flythe I, 994 F. Supp. 2d ab7see
also Flythe v. District of Columbjd9 F. Supp. 3d 311, 321 n.8 (D.D.C. 2014). Ms. Flythe
neverdisputed that rulinglmmunity and vicarious liability are not necessarilyestensive.

“While immunity that protects an employee may also shield the empfoym liability, a
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finding of no civil liability on the part of an employee becausaroimmuiity doctrine may not
shield the employer, for the doctrine of respondeat superiortepbyaimputing to the employer
the acts of the tortfeasor, not the tortfeasor’s liabilit7 Am. Jur. 2cEmployment

Relationshipg 367 (2016)(emphasis added). Thus, “unless there is an independent source of
immunity for the employer or principal, the cause of action premisedtarious liability can be
brought even if the employee or agent is entitled to immunritly,tf. 1 Stuart M. Speisest al,

The AmericarLaw of TortsS 3.9, at 540841 (2013) (explaining that “the few existing case
authorities support the position that ongrodiltiple] joint tortfeasors is not relieved from

liability because another has a personal privilege”).

Accordingly, at trial, the jiy wasasked to consider the District’s liability esspondeat
superiorfor bothofficers. Even though the Court had concluded that Officer Eagan was immune
and privileged in his individual capacity, the jury still considerasdcbnduct as part of
detemining the District’s own liability. Officer Eagan testified at lengttvhich allowed the jury
to fully assess the issu&eel.A. at1649-83, 18481936 And thespecial verdict form asked
the jury whether Ms. Flythe had provtby a preponderance of the evidence that the District of
Columbia is liable for assault and battdoy, the actions of both Officer Vazquez and Officer
Eagan” Id. at2399. Ms. Flythe did not object to that fornseel.A. at 220809 (“I don't think
we have a problem with [the Court verdict form].he jury found the i3trict liable. Seed. at
2399.

As a result, the first trial fully resolved the District’s litly. The jury found the District
vicarioudy liable for the conduct dboth Officer Vazquez and Officer Eagan, and Ih€.

Circuit affrmed See Flythe 111791 F.3d at 18 (noting that “the jury found . . . the District

vicariously liable for assault and battery committed by botlcef$’);id. at 15(“[W]e affirm the
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jury’s verdict.”). The District has now satisfied the judgment. To be sure, the D €uitGr
decision has revived the possibility that Officer Eagan will alstobied liable in his own
individual capacity; but Ms. Flythe does not getecond bite at the apple simply because Officer
Eagan’s own liability is now at playTherefore, th&€€ourt concludes that tH&istrict is no
longer a partylefendanin this matter.
D. The Jury Verdict

Finally, Officer Eagan claims that the jury’s verdietjuires an entry of summary
judgment in his favor because “Eagan’s actions cannot be considered@paviakquez, and
[the] plaintiff has been compensated for the combined actions of Vazqueagad.E Def.’s
Mem. Supp. Summ. J. at 26. For the reasexplained above, the Court disagrees to the extent
Officer Eagan claims that the question of his dmahility was necessarily decided at the prior
trial. Open questions remain regarding the circumstances he was teaivah, the resolution
of whichwill determine whether he is protected from liability by qualifieanunity or common
law privilege. See suprdartlV.A. Nevertheless, the Court agrees that the issue of
compensatory damages was fully determiagtie prior trial.

Conpensatory damagese awarded in order to “make plaintiffs whole for the harms that
they have suffered as a result of defendants’ actiodsridry v. Pelland73 F.3d 397, 402 (D.C.
Cir. 1996). A plaintiff seeking compensation for wrongs coneditigainst him “should be
made whole for his injuries, not enriched,” and, therefore, “in tisemt® of punitive damages,
a plaintiff can recover no more than thedactually suffered.”Medina v. District of Columbia
643 F.3d 323, 326 (D.C. Cir. 2011). This principle applies equally when there laipdemu
defendants. Under D.C. lawntltiple defendants found liable for a single injury are deemed to

be joint brtfeasors, and any compensatory damages for that single nmjistybe awarded
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jointly and severally against themFaison v. Nationwide Mortg. Corp839F.2d 680, 686
(D.C. Cir. 1987)see alsdVatts v. Laurent774 F.2d 168, 17&th Cir. 1985)(conclding, in
section 1983 context, that “[i]t is axiomatic that where several inttkgye actors concurrently or
consecutively produce a single, indivisible injury, each actorbeilheld jointly and severally
liable for the entire injury”).And the plaintiff “can obtaimnly a single recoveryand each
defendant will be entitled to a credit for any sum that the plaimigfcollected from the other
defendant.” Faison 839 F.2d at 6887 (emphasis addedjuotingLeiken v. Wilsonpd45 A.2d
993, 999 (D.C. 2982));see alsdVatts 774 F.2d at 179[T] he very nature of damages as
compensation for injury suffered requires that once the plaistsfieen fully compensated for
his injuries by one or more of the tortfeasors, he may not thereacover any adtdonal
compensation from any of the remaining tortfeasprs

Here,by virtue ofthe fact that the jury was instructed to consider the entire course of
conductwhen determining the compensatory damage award, Ms. Flythe has beewinodel
for the entire ijury. Indeed, the Court instructed the jury to make a single damages award,
stating that: “If you find that the plaintiff is entitled teceive monetary damages from more than
one defendant, then you must award such monetary damages ireaasnogint aginst all
defendants whom you find to be liable.” J.A2880. And, as theéSecond Restatement of
Judgments explain@vith limited exceptions not applicable her§)]f two persons have a
relationship such that one of them is vicariously liable ieiconduct of the other, and an action
is brought by the injured person against one of them . . . the judgmfemor of the injured
personis conclusive upon him as to the amount of his damageestatement (Second) of
Judgmentg 51 (Am. Law Inst. 1982)Thus, the verdict in favor of Ms. Flythe against the

District, finding the Districtvicariously liable for Officer Eagan’s conduct ewdoughthe Court
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had concludethe officerwas immune, encompassed the injuries Mr. Flythe and his estate
suffered as result of Officer Eagan’s actiofsThe plaintiff was made whole through that
award, which theircuit has now affirmed.

The Court acknowledges Ms. Flythe’s argument that “the manner in wiecGdourt
presented this case to the jury was in all respects over the objecti@ypddititiff,” and her
claim that she “objected to the jury instructions,” and “the tlkeaf liabilty that the Court
allowed to go forward.”SeePl.’s Opp’nto Def. Eagan’s Mot. Summ. dt 13(*Pl.’s Opp’'n”),
ECF No. 158 Such generalized objections, however, are insufficient to raissusn Bee, e.g.
Palmer v. Hoffman318 U.S.109, 119 (1943} fairness to the trial court and to the parties,
objections to a charge must be sufficiently specific to brirgyfmtus the precise nature of the
alleged error.”).Ms. Flythedoesnotethe distinction betweethe types oflamagesvailablein
wrongfu death and survival actions. Pl.’s Opp’n at But, as Ms. Flythe acknowledgéabge
Courtdid instructthe jury onhow to calculate damages foothtypes of claimsand those
instructiondargely, andsubstantivelytrackthe standardnstructions sheguotes Seel.A. at
2382-83; Pl’'s Opp’n at 14. Ms. Flytheeverthelessomplains that the verdict form “made no
reference to eithdtype of action]nor did it set forth questions to the jury that were designed to
address amounts recoverable under either statute.” Pl.’s Opp’n ¥ef, 4t trialMs. Flythe did
not object to the form on that groun&eel.A. at 2209. Instead was theDistrict—not Ms.
Flythe—thatargued that thdamageshould batemized intovarious categoriesSeeid. at

2208-09. Ultimately, the Court decided to avoid making the verdict form needlessly

® The Court notes that the verdict form, perhaps erroneatidlgsk the jury to make a
separate compensatory damages award for Officer Vazquez and the Distcictcoviflicted
with the Court’s instruction that the jury should make only glsimonetary award against all
defendants. No partgpisedthis discrepancy, howevereither at trial or in podfrial briefing. In
any event, the jury did end up making a single damages award.
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complcated and ay claim of error concerninthe verdict form waspen to Ms. Flythe on
appeal. As the D.C. Circuit concluded, to the extent she attemptedeargaiments about the
jury instructions, she forfeited them, and there was no mentioialatr on appeal concerning a
challenge to the special verdict farr8eeFlythe 11, 791 F.3d at 22 Regardlessin light of the
fact that the jury was fully instruaeon the typesf damages to take into accoutig tCourt
perceiveso basis in the recotd concludehat the jury did not properly awatkde damagedt
believed warranted for both the survival claim and the wrongfithdsgaim 1°
Nevertheless,antraryto Officer Eagan’s position, Ms. Flythe’s inability to recover
additional compensatory damages doeg@&ader a new trial a hollow exercise (and does not
mean thasummary judgment should be granted in his fav@fficer Eagan’s liability remains
to bedetermined. If he is found liable, the District might be able to seekilmation fora
portion of the damages awatd,the extent the District would not indemnifim.!! In addition,
it is still possible that a jury might conclude that punitive damagesvarranted for Officer
Eagan’s conduct As a result, Officer Eagan’s motions must be denied notwithstguikénfact

that a jury already awarded compensatory damages to Ms. Flythe.

10'Ms. Flythe also argues that “there is nothing in the gefdim indicating that
damages were awarded against the District for the actions of Officer Vadftieer Eagan(,]
or both.” Pl’s Opp’n at 14This argument ignordsoth the nature of joint and several liability,
and the facthat the jury was exgitly tasked with assessing the actiondoth officergo
determine the District’s overall liability. As already explainiedid not matter that Officer
Eagan was immune; the District could still be liable for his cond@éint theCourt also notes
that, despite theliscrepancyaused by two compensatory damage littesfact that the jury
awarded no compensatory damages against Officer Vazqggestshat the jury believed that
the $187,300 in damages they did award flovaegely from Officer Eagaris actions.

11 On the other hand, if the District declined to indein@fficer Eaganit could also
choose to waive its right to contribution from Officer Eagaref@ortion of the compensatory
damages award

12 Recently, however, Officer Eagan’s bankruptcy couimsetmed the Courthat
Officer Eagan has filed for bankruptcy in the Western Districticdinia. Seeletter from
Andrew J. Muzic, Bg, ECF No. 163.This change in circumstances may make a triamapty
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V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasor®fficer Eagan’s motion for summary judgment (ECF No. 150)
is DENIED and Officer Eagan’s motion for summary judgment as to punitive dan(Bgd-
No. 151) isSDENIED. An order consistent with this Memorandum Opinion is separately and

contemporaneousigsued.

Dated: August B, 2016 RUDOLPH CONTRERAS
United States District Judge

gesture, to the extent Officer Eagan does not have the assets necessify emggudgment.
As already notedhe District—althoughno longer a party in any evertlso cannot be held
liable for punitive damage$See Butera v. District of Coluna, 235 F.3d 637658(D.C. Cir.
2001)(explaining that under D.C. law punitive damages are not allowed adaanisidtrict
absent “extraordinary circumstancesd term of artlescribing situations namnplicatedin this
cas@; see alsal.A. at 2387 (instructing the jury that punitive damages “are notedl@gainst
the District of Columbia, on either the federal or common law clgims

29



	I.   Introduction
	II.   Factual Background
	III.   Legal Standard
	IV.   Analysis
	A.   Summary Judgment as to Officer Eagan’s Liability
	B.   Summary Judgment as to Punitive Damages
	C.   The District’s Status
	D.   The Jury Verdict

	V.   Conclusion

